1980

Paul Shurtleff, Max S. Andrews, Ned Shurtleff,  
Harvey R. Carson And Garry R. Cole, General  
Partners, Dba American Sales Company, (Asco), A  
Utah Limited Partnership v. Jay Tuft & Company, A  
Utah Corporation : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to recover unpaid rental in the amount of twenty thousand six hundred forty-seven dollars and seventy-five cents (\$20,647.75) allegedly due on the lease of a used model 35 American backhoe, serial no. 330W. The action also seeks to recover fifteen thousand six hundred fifty-one dollars and seventy-three cents (\$15,651.73) for unpaid repairs made on the said backhoe during the lease term. The defendant filed a counterclaim based on breach of express and implied warranties and negligence. The counterclaim requested certain damages for alleged loss of profits which occurred because the backhoe was not merchantable in that it sustained substantial repairs and down time during the lease term

and also because certain mechanics were incompetent and unable to repair the backhoe; thereby making it necessary for the defendant to lease other equipment which operated at a reduced efficiency.

#### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable James S. Sawaya sitting with a jury of seven women and one man on April 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 18, 19, 20, and 23, 1979. [R. 249]. The jury returned its verdict awarding to the plaintiffs the sum of thirty-six thousand three hundred and seventy-six dollars and nineteen cents (\$36,376.19) which was the total amount requested less four hundred and eighty dollars (\$480.00) for an admitted credit which had not previously been given to the defendant. [R. 386]. One of the jurors, Dawna Probst, found in favor of the defendant on its counterclaim and would have awarded damages for loss of profits. [Tr. 985]. Thereafter on May 1, 1979, the defendants served upon the plaintiffs the DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO AMEND JUDGMENT OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE FOR A NEW TRIAL. [R. 396]. The said motion was denied by the Honorable James S. Sawaya in that certain ORDER dated May 11, 1979. [R. 398]. On May 16, 1979, the defendant filed its NOTICE OF APPEAL appealing from the JUDGMENT ON VERDICT OF JURY, a copy of which was attached to the said NOTICE OF APPEAL. [R. 403].

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks to reverse the JUDGMENT ON VERDICT OF JURY appealed from and to have this Honorable Supreme Court set aside the jury verdict awarding the plaintiffs the sum of Fifteen Thousand Six



Hundred Fifty One Dollars and Seventy-Three Cents (\$15,651.73) in repairs to the backhoe and to order a new trial on the remaining issues raised in the plaintiffs' COMPLAINT dealing with alleged delinquent rentals and in the defendant's COUNTERCLAIM dealing with loss of profits on the Alpine job.

#### RECORD REFERENCES, DESIGNATION OF EXHIBITS, AND IDENTIFICATION OF THE PARTIES

For purposes of clarification, the three-volume transcript prepared by the court reporter will be referred to as [Tr.], and any reference to the official record other than the court reporter's transcript will be designated as [R.].

Some of the exhibits are enlarged documents fastened onto pieces of cardboard. These enlarged exhibits measure approximately 24" X 40" and are more appropriately in the nature of "charts". In order to clearly identify which exhibit is being discussed, the defendant will refer to the "regular" exhibits as [Ex. P-2], [Ex. D-15], etc.; and the "enlarged" documents will be referred to as [Ex. D-3(chart)], etc. The defendant hopes this explanation will assist the court to more readily find the particular exhibit.

The parties will be referred to in this brief as plaintiffs and defendant, the way they are identified during the trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant is a Utah corporation engaged primarily in building water and sewer lines for municipalities under competitive contract bidding [R.797]. The plaintiff, American Sales Company,

(hereafter referred to as ASCO) is a Utah limited partnership. [See ¶1 of plaintiff's Complaint-R. 2]. ASCO's general partners were Paul Shurtleff, Max S. Andrews, Ned E. Shurtleff, Harvey R. Carson and Garry R. Cole. [R. 2]. ASCO sold and rented backhoes and all types of dirt equipment such as rollers, compactors, etc. [Tr. 5]. One of the general partners, Harvey R. Carson, was the manager of ASCO. [Tr. 5].

On or about March 23, 1977, the parties executed an EQUIPMENT LEASE AGREEMENT [Ex. P-1, Ex. D-3(chart)]. In this agreement, the defendant leased from the plaintiff American Sales Company one (1) used American hydraulic backhoe model 35, serial number 330W equipped with a two (2) cubic yard bucket. Plaintiffs' witness Darrell Lester stated this was one of the shorter lived pieces of equipment in the industry. [Tr. 206-207]. The monthly rental was forty-eight hundred dollars (\$4,800.00) per month plus applicable taxes. Plaintiffs own witnesses admitted this monthly rental contained a reserve for depreciation, repairs and maintenance to the backhoe. [Tr. 7, 54-55, and 206]. The said monthly rental contemplated the use of the backhoe upon a basis not to exceed eight (8) hours per day and five (5) days per week and one hundred seventy-six (176) hours per month [See ¶8A. of Exs. P-1 and D-3(chart)]. The lease term was for a minimum period of thirty (30) days beginning on March 21, 1977, with rental payments becoming due and payable every thirty (30) days.

Harvey Carson, one of ASCO's officers, testified that prior to the execution of Exhibit P-1, the plaintiffs' performed a "final servicing" on the backhoe. [Tr. 44-45]. The purpose of this service was to put the backhoe in good operating condition so when a

customer takes it out there are no defects in it. [Tr. 45]. Plaintiffs witnesses further admitted they knew the backhoe would be used by the defendant to fulfill certain obligations under contracts with municipalities which contained deadlines for completion. [Tr. 790-792]. Mr. Carson admitted he represented the backhoe would be able to do the work for which it was intended, had just been completely serviced, and did not have any defects that he knew about. [Tr. 45].

Notwithstanding these express warranties and representations regarding the merchantable condition of the backhoe, it broke down immediately! The very next day after it was delivered to the Murray job site, the left axle broke. [Ex. P-6]. The defendant called Harvey Carson who dispatched three mechanics from Shurtleff & Andrews to repair the axle, to wit: Ray Baldwin, Chip Woods and Gordon Taylor. [Tr. 25, Ex. P-6]. When they arrived at the job site, they determined there were several other serious problems and repairs that had to be made. These included an alternator that would not charge, a horn button that was missing, a counter-balance that was leaking, a swing motor that was leaking on top, and other hydraulic problems. [Ex. P-6]. The three mechanics spent a total of twenty five and one-half (25 1/2) hours repairing the backhoe at a cost of seven hundred twenty-eight dollars and twenty-eight cents (\$728.28). [Ex. P-6]. The repairs were all itemized on a Shurtleff & Andrews work order R0-070 dated 3/22/77. [Ex. P. 6]. ASCO acknowledged they were responsible for repairing all these defective items, and did not pass on the charges to defendant.

From the day the backhoe was delivered to the Murray job site on March 21, 1977, until the day it was picked up from the Alpine

job site ten months later on January 23, 1978, the backhoe experienced regular and serious disrepair, problems of all sorts, and substantial down time. [Exs. P-6, D-7 through D-17. Tr. 752 et seq which is a chronological summary of the defects].

The main categories of problems which the defendant experienced on the backhoe were with (1) the axle which broke twice (once in the Murray job site on March 22nd and again in the Wellington job site on June 15th, less than three months later), (2) the charging system (which required replacement of an alternator on the Murray job site, and again on the Wellington job site as well as replacement of a regulator, batteries, and other electrical parts); and (3) substantial and numerous hydraulic problems that are reflected in nearly every invoice from March 22, 1977, through January 23, 1978. [Ex. P-6 and D-7 through D-17].

The total cost of these repairs amounted to nearly sixteen thousand dollars (\$16,000.00) as noted on plaintiff's Exhibit P-22. The down time which the defendant experienced during the ten month period of the lease agreement because of the defective condition of the backhoe was approximately 22 days as more fully set forth on defendant's Exhibit D-45 (chart).

The problems with the hydraulic system became so serious that by November 16, 1977, the backhoe could not operate at all because the boom and bucket stuck in the trench and could not be lifted out. [Tr. 541]. This created a dangerous condition which made it impossible to operate the backhoe any further until the problems with the hydraulic system were corrected. [Tr. 541, 670-672]. At this point the ASCO mechanics were also baffled, and although they were at the

job site on November 16, 17, 18, 21, 22, 23, 24, and 25, attempting to fix the same problems with sticky valves which continued to reoccur each day, they were unable to do so. [Tr. 326-330]. Finally, by November 28, 1979, the entire hydraulic system broke down and became so contaminated with metal filings and other impurities that it had to be completely flushed out and numerous parts were replaced at a cost of some twelve thousand dollars (\$12,000.00). [Tr. 326-330, Ex. D-14]. Even after this transfusion, the hydraulic system still continued to malfunction and mechanics were sent out for repairs on December 19, 1979, and January 6, 1980. [Tr. 326-330].

The defendant Jay Tuft & Company was under certain contract deadlines to complete the installation of the sewer line at Alpine. When the leased backhoe broke down with the hydraulic problems, the defendant asked the plaintiffs for a substitute backhoe in order to meet its contract obligations. [Tr. 794-796]. ASCO was the only dealer in the State of Utah who had a model 35 backhoe. [Tr. 794]. Although the plaintiffs had a substitute model 35 machine available at their Salt Lake City offices, they refused to let the defendant take it, presumably because they were negotiating for its sale to other third parties. [Tr. 794-796]. The said sale never materialized. [Tr. 796].

After being turned down by ASCO, the defendant brought other backhoes consisting of a Drott 50 and later a Cat 235 to continue digging where the model 35 had broken down. [Tr. 539-541, 543-544, 813-820]. The machines use the same crews as the model 35 backhoe; however, since they were smaller, they were less efficient, and all

the witnesses acknowledged this fact. [Tr. 544, 817, 932 et seq, Exs. D-56 (chart), D-57(chart)]. This loss of efficiency and down time for repairs resulted in a substantial loss of profits on the Alpine job and constituted the basis for defendant's COUNTERCLAIM. [R. 152-157; Exs. D-56, 57(charts)].

The defendant refused to pay for the repairs to the machine because it felt they were the responsibility of ASCO for the reasons set forth in POINT I of the ARGUMENT herein. [Tr. 821-822, 843, 896-897]. It also refused to pay more than the approximately twenty-two thousand dollars (\$22,000.00) it had already paid for rental of the machine, until it could determine its own losses for down time, repairs and loss of profits and other consequential damages in connection with the repeated breakdowns in the machine. [ Tr. 843, 897].

On January 16, 1978, the plaintiffs through their counsel, Robert J. Neilson, sent a letter to the defendant stating that unless the full delinquent amount which was claimed to be due and owing was paid within five days of receipt of the letter, the plaintiffs intended to terminate their lease agreement. [Ex. P-2]. Thereafter, on January 23, 1978, the plaintiffs repossessed the backhoe.

## POINT I

THE JURY VERDICT AWARDING TO THE PLAINTIFFS FIFTEEN THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED AND FIFTY-ONE DOLLARS AND SEVENTY-THREE CENTS (\$15,651.73) FOR REPAIRS TO THE BACKHOE IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE BUT IS BASED UPON SPECULATION, CONJECTURE, PASSION, AND PREJUDICE.

1. The mechanics sent out by Shurtleff & Andrews Construction Co. to repair the backhoe were incompetent to make the repairs according to the generally accepted standards of good workmanship prevailing in the community, and they were, in fact, responsible for the breakdown of the backhoe. The jury verdict was for \$36,376.19 [R. 386]. This was the total amount requested [Ex. P-22] less a \$480.00 credit on the rent. Of this amount \$15,651.73 was for repairs [Ex. P-22]. The defendant submits the seven women on the jury did not understand the technical aspects of the backhoe as related to the three general categories of repair, to wit: the two broken axles, the charging system which required replacement of alternators, regulators, batteries, relay switches, etc., and the hydraulic system which was under constant repair, nor was there any evidence to support their verdict.

Plaintiffs' witness, Darrell Lester, admitted the American hydraulic backhoe model 35 was one of the shortest lived pieces of equipment in the industry. [Tr. 206-207]. The backhoe in the instant case had been purchased by ASCO in 1975, and by the time the instant lease agreement was executed on March 21, 1977, it had already been leased twice before by Jay Tuft & Company and also by two other construction companies. [Ex. D-42, Tr. 110, 149, 639-643]. On March 21, 1977, it had approximately two thousand three hundred and twenty (2,320) hours of operation. [Ex. D-42]. It broke down



the day after the defendant received it, necessitating a new alternator, a new axle, and repairs to the hydraulic system because of the counter-balance leaking, the swivel leaking, and the swing motor leaking. [Ex. P-6].

The hydraulic problems continued throughout the next ten (10) months. [Exs. D-7 through D-17]. During all of these times, the defendant contacted Harvey Carson at ASCO and reported the defects and problems. Harvey Carson then assigned some of Shurtleff & Andrews' mechanics to the job. [Tr. 24-25]. Ray Baldwin was assigned to nearly every work order pertaining to the backhoe during the term of the LEASE AGREEMENT. [See Exs. P-6 and D-7 through D-17].

Since nearly twelve thousand dollars (\$12,000.00) of the repairs pertain to the decontamination of the hydraulic system, the defendant will now briefly describe that system. [Mechanic Ray Baldwin Tr. 311-316, 334-340; designer Charles Wienke Tr. 396-400, 438-461; owner of construction business Harold Babcock Tr. 672-686, 697-698].

The hydraulic oil is put into the machine from a drum or other container much like gasoline enters an automobile. The oil then goes to a storage reservoir which is not completely filled. When the backhoe is started, the hydraulic oil is distributed throughout the system both by means of the pressure in the storage reservoir as well as by certain motors and pumps in the machine.

The circulating oil first enters a main 25-micron hydraulic filter which is similar to the oil filter in a car, but much larger. This filter has a magnetic separator which is placed in the middle of the filter from top to bottom. This separator is made up of tiny magnets. Both the filter and magnetic separator are safety devices



installed by the manufacturer to remove metal particles, dirt, and other impurities which are always present in the hydraulic system, simply from normal operation. When the filters and magnetic separator become clogged, they must be replaced. The manufacturer's expert witness, Charles Wienke, stated that the filters do not need to be replaced after any given number of hours of operation, but whenever they become clogged.

The condition of the filter can be seen by a visual indicator on the filter itself. This visual indicator is a small flag which can be easily seen by the operator by opening two metal doors and looking at the filter. This act takes less than three minutes. If the flag is silver in color, the filter is okay. When the flag is red, this means the oil is "bypassing" the filter. When the oil is bypassing the filter, it can be easily observed from the same "windows". In this "bypass" condition, the oil goes over the top of the filter rather than through it.

This "bypass" feature is important to the instant appeal. When the backhoe first starts up in the morning, the oil will bypass the filter until it is warmed up. During this warm-up time, the red flag will appear at the visual indicator. During this time, the operator will be able to observe the oil going over the top of the filter. After the machine is warmed up, the oil then goes through the filter and the red flag disappears and is replaced by a silver one.

The "bypass" system in the main hydraulic 25-micron filter is a safety device installed by the manufacturer to allow the hydraulic oil to get to the pumps and other moving parts in the main motors and swing motors while the machine is warming up and

during times when the main filter is clogges. If this system didn't exist, the pumps would starve from lack of oil and wou "cavitate" or deteriorate.

If the filter is clogged with metal filings, dirt, particles, and other impurities, the oil will continue to go over the top of the filter even when the machine is warmed up. This condition will then alert the operator that he should change the filter element. If he fails to change it, then the impurities in the oil will continue to flow over the top of the filter and into the main hydraulic system. These impurities can then become imbedded in valves, pistons, and other moving parts causing them to stick and the hydraulic backhoe to malfunction. They can also cause other damage such as to pumps by hitting against the pump blades, causing them to deteriorate, etc.

The pumps will also deteriorate simply through normal wear and tear without any problem of contamination in the system. Once the pumps start to deteriorate for whatever reason, they go out quickly in a matter of three to four hours. When they do deteriorate, they also spew metal filings and other impurities into the system. These impurities will be picked up by the main 25-micron hydraulic filter and magnetic separator until the elements become clogged. At that point, and unless the filter is replaced, impurities from the deteriorating pumps, etc. will circulate in the system and cause problems with the other moving parts.

After the hydraulic oil leaves the main hydraulic 25-micron filter and magnetic separator, it circulates to other parts of the system. One of these sections contains the swing motor which turns the backhoe around during operation. Before the oil gets into the swing motor, it goes through a 10-micron filter which, like the main

25-micron filter, is there to filter out smaller impurities and to protect the swing motor from contamination. If the swing system is not operating properly, there is a red light on the dash in the operator's cab which comes on to alert the operator to a potential problem. This red light in the operator's cab is the only visual indicator on the backhoe which deals solely with the swing system; and is further the only visual means an operator has to alert him to possible danger in the swing system. Sometimes the operator can detect a different noise in the swing motor if there are problems with contamination. The witnesses refer to this noise as "whining" or "yowling". [Tr. 397]. Another witness testified the motion on the backhoe would become jerky and could be felt as the operator swung the housing around. [Tr. 680].

Another safety feature is a sight glass which could be observed and which was installed by the manufacturer to allow an operator to visually determine the level of the hydraulic oil in the system. [Tr. 399].

In conclusion, the manufacturer has designed at least four safety devices to prevent the impurities in the hydraulic oil from damaging the pump and other moving parts. These are (1) the main 25-micron hydraulic filter, (2) the magnetic separator inside the hydraulic filter, (3) the bypass system which allows oil to get to the moving parts even though the filter and magnetic separator are clogged, and (4) the 10-micron filter associated with the swing motor and swing system. These are also visual indicators on the main hydraulic filter, and a red light in the operator's cab pertaining

to the swing motor and system, as well as a sight glass to determine the level of the hydraulic oil in the system.

The Shurtleff & Andrews' mechanics, Ray Baldwin and Chip Woods, had been dispatched to the Alpine job site on October 28, 1977, to repair the stick cylinder and to repack same at a charge to the defendant of one thousand one hundred sixteen dollars and ninety-four cents (\$1,116.94). [Ex. D-13]. Approximately two weeks later on November 16, 1977, the stick cylinder again malfunctioned, making it impossible to bring the stick or boom or bucket out of the trench. [Tr. 541]. The defendant called Harvey Carson who dispatched Ray Baldwin to the Alpine job site. [Tr. 303].

It was at this point that the hydraulic system began to deteriorate rapidly resulting in a cost of nearly twelve thousand dollars (\$12,000.00) for a complete decontamination job which required a major overhaul and the replacement of numerous parts in the backhoe hydraulic system [Ex. D-14].

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