1980

Paul Shurtleff, Max S. Andrews, Ned Shurtleff,  
Harvey R. Carson And Garry R. Cole, General  
Partners, Dba American Sales Company, (Asco), A  
Utah Limited Partnership v. Jay Tuft & Company, A  
Utah Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

At no time did Shurtleff and Andrews send statements to or demand payment from the Defendant for the repairs. In every case Shurtleff and Andrews billed Plaintiffs. (See, e.g., Ex. D-8). Shurtleff and Andrews recognized that Plaintiffs had requested the mechanics and, therefore, Plaintiffs, not Defendant, was responsible for the charges. (Tr. 25).

If the requested repairs required specialized training, Plaintiffs retained the services of other repairmen, such as Abbott GM Diesel, Inc. Abbott also billed Plaintiffs directly. (Tr. 68-69); [Ex. D-8]. This procedure was followed throughout the lease term and the Defendant paid certain of Plaintiffs' statements without objection or comment. (Tr. 193) [Ex. P-20].

1. Timeliness of Motion.

The timing of Defendant's Motion is, at best, highly questionable. The Defendant knew from the outset that Plaintiffs employed the services of Shurtleff and Andrews to make the necessary repairs. No claim can or has been made that these facts were a surprise to the Defendant. However, contrary to the allegations of the Defendant, this issue was not raised, expressly or by implication, by the Defendant either in its Answer or any subsequent pleading.

It has long been the established rule of law that the failure of a party to timely raise an objection based upon Rule 17 in its Answer, or at the outset of the pleadings, acts as a waiver of the objection. This Court has affirmed the rule of law as above summarized on two prior occasions.

In Fritz v. Western Union Tel. Co., 25 Utah 263, 71 P. 209 (1903), the Defendant raised an objection as to the real party in interest at trial. This Court, in its ruling, stated:

[T]his objection was urged too late, and must be held to have been waived. "The objection that the plaintiff in an action is not the real party in interest . . . when available

by way of defense, must be raised by demurrer or answer, or it will be considered to have been waived." Id. at 214 (Emphasis added)

In the subsequent case of Tooele Meat & Storage Co. v. Fite Candy Co., 57 Utah 1, 168 P. 427 (1917), this Court, dealing with a defense of lack of standing, related the same to a motion for failure to prosecute in the name of a real party in interest, holding:

Such an objection is like one that the plaintiff is not the real party in interest. That objection must be made by special demurrer if it appears on the face of the complaint, and, if it does not so appear, then advantage of it must be taken by answer, and if not taken either by answer or demurrer the objection is waived. Id. at 428. (Emphasis added).

See also, Parker v. Brown, 4 Cal. 2d 344, 254 P.2d 6 (1953).

The timing of Defendant's Motion indicates that it is nothing more than a thinly-disguised attempt by Defendant to bootstrap itself into an argument for dismissal. Defendant has known from the very outset of this litigation that Plaintiffs, when requested by Defendant to repair the backhoe, would employ the services of mechanics from Shurtleff and Andrews and others. Defendant was fully aware that no monthly billings were sent by Shurtleff and Andrews to Defendant but that all statements were sent to Plaintiffs. [See Exs. D-8 and D-9].

That the Defendant never considered the possibility that it owed Shurtleff and Andrews for the repairs, rather than Plaintiffs, is also apparent. At no time did Defendant express any concern about the identity of the company

entitled to be paid for the repairs. Mr. Tuft, the principal officer of the Defendant, testified that he had a number of conversations with Plaintiffs regarding both the rental payments and the repair payments on the backhoe, but not once did Mr. Tuft raise a question as to whom payment should be made. (Tr. 845).

Not even when the Defendant was served with a Summons and Complaint seeking recovery of the repair costs did the Defendant raise an issue as to whether the wrong entity was demanding payment. Defendant's Amended Answer and Counterclaim (R. 151) filed barely one month prior to trial, contains nothing more than the customary boilerplate Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim. Defendant's Answers to Interrogatories add little other than an allegation that Shurtleff and Andrews might also be liable to the Defendant since Shurtleff and Andrews provided the labor and parts. (R. 159). If Defendant seriously believed Shurtleff and Andrews was responsible under the Counterclaim, one wonders why Shurtleff and Andrews was never brought into this action by the Defendant.

It is further noteworthy that Defendant in its Motion was concerned only with Shurtleff and Andrews and not with other repairmen such as Abbott GM Diesel, Inc. Defendant knew that Plaintiffs had hired Abbott to repair the charging system, just as Plaintiffs had hired Shurtleff and Andrews to accomplish other repairs.

The simple fact remains that Defendant did not timely

raise its objection under Rule 17. Under the clear facts established at trial, the Motion of Defendant was improper; is deemed waived and was properly denied by the trial court.

## 2. Real Party in Interest.

The trial court correctly ruled that since there was sufficient evidence to find that a contract to pay for the repairs existed between the parties, Defendant's Motion should be denied.

A real party in interest is defined by the case law as any party who actually owns the cause of action and is in a position to release the claim once satisfied. In Anheuser-Busch, Inc. v. Starley, 28 Cal. 2d 347, 170 P.2d 448, the California Supreme Court noted:

Where plaintiff shows such title that a judgment satisfied by the defendant will protect defendant from future annoyance or loss, and defendant can urge any defenses he could make against the real owner, the action is being prosecuted in the name of the "real party in interest." Id. at 449.

The Supreme Court of New Mexico in State v. Barker, 51 N.M. 51, 178 P.2d 401, held that the existence of a real party in interest depends on:

. . . (1) whether he is the owner of the right to be enforced; or (2) whether he is in a position to release and discharge defendant from liability on which action is grounded. Id. at 402.

It has further been noted that the ownership of the claim must be substantive and not simply technical or nominal. Maryland Casualty Co. v. King, 381 P.2d 153 (Okla. 1963).

The purpose of the rule is to allow a party to assert all available defenses against the real owner of the cause of action, thereby being allowed a full hearing on the merits of the controversy. Shaw v. Jeppson, 121 Utah 155, 239 P.2d 745 (1952).

In the case at bar the evidence clearly indicates that Plaintiffs are a real party in interest to this litigation. Plaintiffs were the party with whom Defendant contracted for the lease of the backhoe. (Tr. 834-35); [Ex. P-1]. It was the Plaintiffs that Defendant would call if the machine needed repairs. (Tr. 24). It was Plaintiffs that requested mechanics from Shurtleff and Andrews and others. The mechanics were dispatched under the direction of Plaintiffs and the services rendered were billed by Shurtleff and Andrews, not to Defendant, but to Plaintiffs. (Tr. 25-26). Plaintiffs would then see that the bill was paid to Shurtleff and Andrews, expecting to be paid in turn by the Defendant according to the clear terms of the lease agreement. (Tr. 35-36)

The Defendant was free to, and did at trial, raise every conceivable defense, including breach of all warranties. Defendant was not foreclosed from raising the issues of the value of the services performed and whether the repairs were accomplished in a workmanlike manner. In fact, Defendant spent much of the time eliciting evidence in support of those defenses.

Under the circumstances of this case it is clear that

the purpose of the Rule has been satisfied. Defendant has not claimed that the failure to join Shurtleff and Andrews deprived it of some important defense. Nor has it been shown that Shurtleff and Andrews would or could raise some action against Defendant since the orders for service came from Plaintiffs and were for Plaintiffs' backhoe.

E. PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT UNJUSTLY ENRICHED.

Defendant's claim that the enforcement of the judgment will result in unjust enrichment of the Plaintiffs' almost requires no response. Plaintiffs' action was for the recovery of unpaid rental payments for the use of the backhoe during the lease term and repairs to the backhoe occasioned by the Defendant's use of the backhoe. Plaintiffs are not asking for double payment or for any recovery not specifically provided for in the lease agreement. [Ex. P-1]. Plaintiffs simply seek to be reimbursed for the use and repair of the backhoe and nothing else.

In order to support a claim of unjust enrichment, the Defendant must show that the Plaintiffs have received a benefit which does not belong to them. In Baugh v. Darley, 112 Utah 1, 184 P.2d 335, 337 (1947), this Court ruled that:

Unjust enrichment of a person occurs when he has and retains money or benefits which in justice and equity belong to another.  
(Emphasis added)

The clear application of this rule of law is that the Plaintiffs cannot be unjustly enriched for simply receiving

the benefit of their bargain under the lease. Plaintiffs leased a backhoe to Defendant in return for Defendant's promise that Plaintiffs would be paid for each day of Defendant's use. [Ex. P-1]. The jury awarded to Plaintiffs the unpaid lease payments which Defendant agreed to pay for the use of the backhoe, nothing more and nothing less.

In like manner, Plaintiffs asked only to be reimbursed for the cost of repairs to maintain the backhoe pursuant to the lease. Contrary to the position of Defendant, the jury found from the evidence that Defendant was obligated to repair the backhoe and that the charges for such repairs were reasonable.

Defendant's argument that the lease payment included a reserve for repairs is simply not supported by the evidence. The testimony of Mr. Carson was to the effect that he used certain standard publications in assisting him to set a lease rate. (Tr. 7-8). The undisputed evidence as presented at trial is that had the lease rate included a reserve for repairs, the lease payment would have been substantially higher than the amount which the Defendant was required to pay. (Tr. 83-84). In fact, the testimony of Mr. Carson was that the Plaintiffs did not offer a lease which included a reserve for repairs and that during the negotiations with the Defendant, Mr. Tuft was told that he would be responsible for the maintenance and repairs on the backhoe. (Tr. 12-13). Accordingly, there was never any direct evidence that the lease in question [Ex. P-1] contained a specific reserve, in a specified, indentifiable amount, for repairs during the lease term.

The argument of Defendant is clearly without merit and in error. Plaintiffs have only been made whole by the jury award in this case and have received no windfall by enforcement of the judgment. Under these circumstances, the claim of unjust enrichment is improper and must fail.

## POINT II

### RAY BALDWIN'S EXPERT OPINION WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

Defendant argues in Point II of its Brief that the trial court erred in permitting Ray Baldwin to give his expert opinion that the backhoe had not been properly maintained.

Defendant does not dispute Mr. Baldwin's qualifications as an expert, Defendant merely asserts that the foundation for his opinion was inadequate because he had never observed nor did he have personal knowledge of any specific acts by Defendant which would constitute improper maintenance. Obviously, if Mr. Baldwin had actually observed or had personal knowledge of improper maintenance of the backhoe, it would not have been necessary for him to give an opinion. The purpose of allowing expert opinion testimony is to permit an expert with special knowledge or training to draw inferences or conclusions from facts perceived by, known or made known to him, which the jury, without such special knowledge or training, would not be able to draw for themselves. This general rule was expressed in Gilbert v. Quinet, 369 P.2d 267, 268 (Ariz. 1962):

An expert may be allowed, in cases where expert opinion is appropriate, to interpret facts in evidence which the jury are not qualified to interpret for themselves, McCormick, Evidence § 13, p. 28 (1954).

An argument similar to that made by Defendant was asserted and rejected in Boehler v. Sanders, 404 P.2d 885, 887 (Mont. 1968):

According to appellant's argument and the cases cited alleging support of his theory, a policy officer, who qualifies as an expert in traffic matters, cannot give opinion testimony based on his investigation if he did not witness the accident. Such is not the law for he can give an opinion based on the facts he testified to . . . . Appellant's objection to this testimony was "that it called for a conclusion and that no proper foundation was laid." This objection was properly overruled by the trial judge, . . . .

Admittedly, the expert witness must testify as to the facts upon which his opinion is based (Day v. Lorenzo Smith & Son, Inc., 17 Utah 2d 221, 408 P.2d 221 [1965]); however, Mr. Baldwin did testify extensively as to the facts upon which his opinion was based. Mr. Baldwin testified that he had performed the final servicing on the backhoe immediately prior to the lease to Defendant (Tr. 282) and that during the term of that lease, he inspected and repaired the backhoe on numerous occasions. (Tr. 282, 286-292, 293-298, 300-310, 313-315, 317-321). Mr. Baldwin further testified that during the course of repairs performed at the Alpine project, he removed the main hydraulic filter and found that it was totally contaminated. (Tr. 317).

After approximately forty (40) pages of testimony, including that testimony cited above, Mr. Baldwin was

asked, based on his inspection and the work he performed on the machine, to give his judgment as to whether the machine had been maintained in a proper condition. (Tr. 321).. He stated that ". . . [i]n my opinion, when I pulled that filter out, there was no way the machine was maintained properly." (Tr. 323).

The admissibility of expert testimony such as Mr. Baldwin's is generally left to the discretion of the trial court and this court has so held. Batt v. State, 28 Utah 2d 417, 503 P.2d 855, 858 (1972).

The admissibility of such testimony is primarily for the trial court to determine. He is allowed considerable latitude of discretion; and this court will not reverse in the absence of clear showing of abuse; but will leave the challenge to its reliability as going not to its competency, but as to its weight and credibility, which is for the jury to determine.

After reviewing the foundation for Mr. Baldwin's opinion, there can be no question that the trial court did not err or abuse its discretion in allowing this testimony. Even assuming that it was error to admit this testimony, it does not rise to the level of a prejudicial error which would warrant reversal.

Defendant contends that this alleged error was prejudicial because ". . . [n]o other witness testified the backhoe was maintained improperly and there is no other testimony in the record in the form of expert opinion directly supporting a jury finding there was operator abuse or improper maintenance of the machine insofar as the hydraulic system was concerned." (Appellant's Brief at 36-37).

This contention ignores the testimony of Mr. Weinke that ". . . [i]f the filters would have been changed on time and kept clean, you wouldn't have got those metal filings in the filters." (Tr. 415). Defendant's own witness, Mr. Babcock, testified that the replacement of filters is the responsibility of the contractor or lessee. (Tr. 663). Mr. Weinke also testified that hydraulic oil added to the backhoe should ". . . pass . . . through a ten micron filter before it goes into the machine." (Tr. 400). Defendant's employees admit that this was not done. (Tr. 530).

Under similar circumstances, this Court held in Christianson v. Debry, 23 Utah 2d 334, 463 P.2d 5 (1969), that even if the trial court erred in admitting certain expert opinion testimony, where there was other evidence to support the verdict, the admission was harmless error.

### POINT III

EXPERT TESTIMONY IS NOT REQUIRED IN DETERMINING  
MERCHANTABILITY AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT  
COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN FINDING  
HAROLD BABCOCK UNQUALIFIED.

In Point III of its brief, the Defendant argues that the question of the merchantable condition of the backhoe "must come from expert witnesses . . ." and that the exclusion of Harold Babcock's opinion as to the merchantability of the backhoe "was prejudicial since it left defendants [sic] without the required testimony on this critical issue . . . ." (Appellant's Brief at 38 and 41) (Emphasis added).

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